ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
JO NT ARVMVED SERVI CES COW TTEE
February 17, 2015
2:04 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Lora Reinbold, Co-Chair
Senat or John Coghill, Co-Chair
Representati ve Wes Kel |l er
Representative Gabrielle LeDoux
Representative Bob Lynn
Representative Geran Tarr

Senat or Anna MacKi nnon

Senat or Cick Bishop

Senator Bill W el echowski

MEMBERS ABSENT
Senator Pete Kelly
PUBLI C MEMBERS
Li eut enant Col onel Tom Case - retired
Col onel Tim Jones — retired
Charl es “Chick” Wallace (via tel econference)
Maj or General Jake Lestenkof — retired (via tel econference)
Col onel CGeorge Vakalis - retired (via tel econference)
Chief Warrant O ficer Curt Brownlow (via tel econference)
COW TTEE CALENDAR
PRESENTATI ON: " STATE OF THE M LI TARY"
- HEARD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
No previous action to record
W TNESS REGQ STER
LI EUTENANT GENERAL RUSSELL J. HANDY, Conmander
El eventh Air Force
Al askan North Anerican Aerospace Defense Comrand ( NORAD)

Joi nt Base El nendorf-Ri chardson (JBER)
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Gave an overview on the mlitary in Al aska.

ASC COW TTEE -1- February 17, 2015



LAURI E HUMVEL, Comnmi ssi oner

Department of Mlitary & Veterans Affairs (DWA)
Fort Ri chardson, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented an overvi ew of DWA.

LUKE HOPKI NS, Mayor

Fai rbanks North Star Borough

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Descri bed the “Tiger Team”

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
2:04:40 PM

CO CHAI R LORA REINBCOLD call ed the Joint Arned Services Conmittee
neeting to order at 2:04 p.m Representatives Keller, LeDoux,
Lynn, Tarr, and Reinbold and Senators Coghill, MHKi nnon, Bishop,
and W el echowski were present at the call to order. Also in
attendance were retired Lieutenant Col onel Tom Case and retired
Col onel Tim Jones. Present via teleconference were Civilian A de
to the Secretary of the Arny, Chick Wallace, retired Mjor
Ceneral Jake Lestenkof, retired Col onel George Vakalis, and
Chief Warrant O ficer Curt Brownl ow.

PRESENTATI ON: "State of the MIlitary"

2:07: 06 PM

CO-CHAIR REINBOLD announced that the first order of business
would be a presentation by Lieutenant General Russell Handy,
commander of the Al aska Command of the Eleventh Air Force, the
Al askan North Anerican Aerospace Defense Conmand Regi on ( NORAD),
and Joint Base El nendorf-Richardson (JBER), Al aska. She said
General Handy is the senior mlitary officer in Al aska and
responsible for the integration of all mlitary activities in
Al aska’s joint operations area. He is a command pilot with nore
than 3,600 flight hours, and he participated in Desert Shield,
Desert Storm Desert Fox, Southern Watch, Noble Eagle, Iraqi
Freedom and New Dawn, she added.

2:09: 04 PM
LI EUTENANT GENERAL RUSSELL J. HANDY, Commander, Eleventh Air

Force, Al askan North Anerican Aerospace Defense Comrand ( NORAD),
and Joint Base Elnendorf-Richardson (JBER), noted that there

ASC COW TTEE -2- February 17, 2015



were six mssion-ready mlitary aircraft in Alaska in 1941 and
22,000 mlitary wonmen and nmen with very poor command and contr ol
and no infrastructure. In 1942, the recognition of the
i mportance of Alaska triggered the construction of the Al aska
H ghway. In the same year, he said, the Japanese invaded and
occupied Attu and Kiska Islands. The next year, the 1,500-mle
Al aska Hi ghway was conpleted, providing a way to bring
infrastructure overland into the state, he explained. Al askan
Command was fornmed in 1947, and now it is a sub-unified command
under the U. S. Northern Command ( NorthCon

2:11: 30 PM
[ A video was shown. ]
2:12: 48 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY noted that the video showed “airnen,
soldiers, marines, sailors, active duty guard reserve, coast
guardsnmen, and civilian warriors, and they're all on there
because they're all integrally involved in everything that we do
to maintain ready forces for gl obal deploynment in Al aska.”

2:13: 27 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said there are a nunber of reasons why
it is inportant to have an Al aska command, and he showed a slide
entitled "DOD Footprint," [an overlay of a map of Al aska
mlitary stations on a map of the Lower 48 states]. There are 32
mlitary installations, 12 major installations, and about 72,000
active-duty guard reserve and famlies in the state. Adding
about 80,000 to 100,000 veterans, one in five Al askans have
direct mlitary involvenent, he said, and there are also
busi nesses that depend on the mlitary in Al aska. He noted that
about $1.5 billion a year of DOD [Departnent of Defense] nobney
is in the Al aska econony, about 18 percent of the state econony.
Al aska is geographically isolated, so no other state can |end
assi stance when natural disasters occur. Additionally, he said,
Alaska is a “critical approach to the honeland,” because no
ot her state has the extensive coastline and air approach.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said the Northern Conmand abuts the
Eur opean Command and the Pacific Command, so it serves to unify
DOD action. He showed a chart, "Historical Alignnment (pre Cct
14)," and said he has “been aligned with four hats.” One is the
El eventh Air Force, where he manages airnen serving Hawaii and
Guam He then spoke of the relationship with the Canadian

ASC COW TTEE - 3- February 17, 2015



government, and said, “W are responsible, of course, for
war ni ng assessnment and defense of our airspace.” He noted that
“we had two hats: the Al askan Command and the Joint Task Force
Al aska, one of which worked for Admiral Locklear in Pacific
Command and one for Admiral Gortney in Northern Command, but we
really, increasingly, were doing nore and nore in support of
NorthCom” So, in Cctober, the Secretary of Defense signed an
order to nmove the Alaska Command from the Pacific Command and
di sestablish the Joint Task Force, he explained, which is nore
streanlined and nore accurately depicts activities wthin
Al aska. Day-to-day mssions and the interactions wth FEMA
[ Federal Emergency Managenent Agency] and the state are all
fundanmentally a NorthCom responsibility, he stated, and that is
why the organi zi ng makes so nuch sense.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY turned to a slide showi ng a snapshot of
where the 946 Al aska-based forces are currently deployed, which
does not count the thousands who are on tenporary duty
assignments for training and readiness. The Air Force, Ar
National Guard, Air Force Reserve, Royal Canadian Air Force, and
the civilians who work with them stay on watch, ©“24/7,” in
support of the Alaskan North American Aerospace Defense Command
(NORAD) region, he stated. He said NORAD is responsible for
surveillance warning and aerospace control, and there are three
North Anmerican regions, the Lower 48, Canada, and Al aska, and
they all have different challenges. He stated that there has
been an increase in activity by the Russians near our borders,
“and while the nunbers have not increased nearly to the degree
that we’ve seen in Europe, particularly Eastern Europe, they
have increased, and the sophistication of their training
m ssions has also increased.” Wen this occurs, in accordance
with international law, these mlitary training flights do not
have to file the sane kinds of flight plans or squawk codes as
civilian aircraft, he explained. The aircraft often cone into
our zones unidentified, but “they have not touched our 12-mle
i nternational boundary,” he said, but “nonetheless we like to
know who is comng within our identification zones, and we
identify all of the aircraft.” He noted a June flight that cane
within 40 mles of California and 16 other incursions between
July and August of 2014 that were intercepted or identified “in
some way.” The Russians are sending a nessage that they still
have the ability to project power all over the world, he said.

2:21: 20 PM

COCHAIR COGHI LL said it is nice to know those borders are being
wat ched, and he nentioned boat traffic in the northern Asian

ASC COW TTEE -4- February 17, 2015



continent and asked if [Russians] are flying over the [North]
Pol e.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said yes, but ruch |ess frequently than
in nmore southern latitudes. He said the Russians are building
infrastructure and are considering ports and bases along the
Arctic front to support economc interests in oil and gas.

CO CHAIR COGHI LL asked if Al aska needs infrastructure. The Asian
Pacific will be a tense zone, but the Arctic is a growng
concern. “W see Alaska as a strategic location, but their
northern Asian place nust also be equally strategic,” he added.

2:23: 07 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked if Russians fly close just to show
t hat they can.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said there is a lot of conjecture, and
he believes they have an interest in projecting power, as do we.

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked if U S. aircraft fly close to
Russi an ai r space.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said, “W exercise freedom of action
t hroughout the world, quite frankly.” He said the Chinese
government declared an air defense identification zone, and *“I

think that it was less than 24 hours later we flew wthin that—
and have every right to do so. Wile we don't operate very
frequently up in that area, we certainly have the ability to do
that in accordance with international |aw anytinme we please.”

2:24: 26 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY noted that he is also a service
commander and mnmanagenent headquarters for all the airnmen who
serve with the Eleventh Air Force. The Eleventh Air Force
recently aligned many of the airmen who were assigned to a
commander in Hawaii to him he said. So, “all of our Air Force
assets that are now assigned on U. S. soil are under Eleventh Ar
Force,” he stated. In Alaska, the Eleventh Air Force manages a
nunber of facilities that contribute to readi ness, he expl ai ned,
with two large operations and mai ntenance contracts managed by
the Pacific Regional Support Center and run by Al aska Native
corporations. There is an exciting 10-year arrangenment wth
ARCTEC Joint Venture for $422 million to support the 15 |ong-
range radar sites across the borders of Alaska. He said three

ASC COW TTEE - 5- February 17, 2015



i nstal |l ati on-support contracts were nerged into one for the King
Sal non Airbase, Eareckson Air Station, and Wke Island, and
Chugach Federal Solutions manages this $184 nillion contract. He
said his group is engaged in 63 environmental restoration
projects, and many of those cleaning up are Al aska Nati ves.

2:27:47 PM

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked him to conpare our preparedness wth
that of “other major superpowers.”

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY answered that Russia is trying to
denonstrate its global presence, but the nunber of bonbers and
aerial refueling tankers is dwarfed by the capability of the
United States Air Force. He added that we partner and often
di scuss defense issues with the Chinese mlitary, which is
“very, very strong within its region,” but it cannot conpare to
the US. inits ability to globally project power.

2:29: 10 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked if the Air Force has aircraft that
go faster than the speed of sound, |ike the Concord.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said the F-22 not only goes faster than
the speed of sound, but it can cruise at that speed w thout the
use of afterburner. The A r Force does not have any |arge
transport aircraft |ike the Concord, he stated, but “virtually
all of our fighter-sized aircraft are supersonic in sone way.”
He added that it takes a lot of fuel to go that fast, and other
aircraft can get the job done w thout that capability.

2: 30: 30 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY noted that Lockheed Martin just
conpleted an “essential parts replacenent progranf for al

radars, giving them a |ife of about another 10 years. The Joint
Pacific Al aska Range Conplex (JPARC) is six times the size of
its nearest partner in the Lower 48 and has a vast anount of
ai rspace and very sophisticated equipnment. He said it needs to
be continuously upgraded, especially for the fifth generation
aircraft like the B-2, F-22, and F-35 where it is not neeting

requi renents, “so we’'re expanding both the vertical size and
then some of the equipnment capability within the ranges,” and
that initiative is still ongoing, and he expects it wll take

12-18 nonths before any of those initiatives cone to fruition.
He said, “The FAA [Federal Aviation Adm nistration] has the ball

ASC COW TTEE - 6- February 17, 2015



right now ...on nost of those initiatives, and they' re about to
come out for public comment.”

2:32: 41 PM
COLONEL JONES asked about the gaps he intends to address.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY expl ained that there are six areas that
are targeted, and there is a record of decision on the
environnmental inpact statenment on each [project]. The first is
an expansion of the Fox 3 Mlitary Operating Area—the
sout hernnost piece of that |ong piece of airspace, which is now
very limted in vertical capacity to be able to do realistic
training. He said there are sone lower altitude areas where
civilian aircraft fly, and he wants to be careful and perhaps
mtigate the inpacts by using corridors and time restrictions
“That’s the kind of thing the FAA will help us with,” he stated.
There are “a couple of enhancenents in our area ground ranges,
both restricted area 2202 and 2205,” he said. It wll be a
slight extension and re-angling of the airspace in order to drop
live ordnance and keep people safe. “Because our F-22s own the
night, but we want to continue to have them own the night, we
need to fly a little later in the evening,” he explained, and
instead of having to land at 11 p.m, perhaps land at 1 a.m
which is a very small w ndow at the beginning of spring and at
the end of sunmer. He told the conmttee that Alaska is at the
forefront of renotely piloted vehicles, and he spoke of working
with the University of Al aska and other partners, and they are
studyi ng what restricted airspace corridors are needed. The next
expansion is of the Arnmy range bordering Eielson Air Force Base,
he added.

2:36: 01 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said the 3rd Wng is one of the mjor
wings in the Eleventh Air Force, and it would take himtoo |ong
to go through everything the 3rd Wng has done just this past
year, but it has been involved all over the world, including
supporting the President on a Ml aysian trip, being the first F-
22s in conbat, supporting Typhoon Haiyan [relief efforts], and
generating C-17s to support special forces during the N gerian
ki dnapping incident. The 3rd Wng was also at the forefront of
devel oping a new concept about expeditionary deploynents of
sophi sticated aircraft like F-22s with a small support package,
either overtly or covertly, to places all over the Pacific, he
said, and the concept is called Rapid Raptor, and it has been in
the nedia. The 3rd Wng has been involved in other exercises and

ASC COW TTEE -7- February 17, 2015



readiness initiatives all over the globe, including hosting the
Sout h Korean search and rescue effort for a fishing vessel.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY stated that Colonel Brian Bruckbauer
and his team [673d Air Base Wng] continue to set the exanple
for how to run a big joint base wth over 40,000 airnen,
soldiers, and famlies. He said, “They' ve started sonething
called a land encroachnent executive stakeholder neeting,” and
he has never seen anything like it. Instead of separate neetings
for the Port of Anchorage, Knik Arm crossing, Muntain View
noi se, and the Ted Stevens [Airport] master plan, for exanples,
this nmeeting brings all of the folks together to discuss issues
in a holistic manner. It has been a trenendous success, he
stated. Many contracts have been restored or captured. The Wng
has increased access to the [on-base] nedical facility and added
urol ogy and vision services to take sonme of the pressure off of
“our clinics downtown.” He spoke of the Arctic Thunder open
house, where 150,000 people canme out to see the Thunder Birds,
JBER [Joint Base Elnendorf-Richardson] joint teans, and over 35
other perforners denonstrating mlitary capability. Referring to
“Alaska Shield,” he said that the 673rd supported an incredible
amount of people to nmake that exercise happen. He said he is
proud to announce that the power plant partnership between the
muni ci pality of Anchorage, Doyon, and the base won the 2014
Federal Energy Managenent Program award by using nethane gas
from a landfill to generate energy. In its first year, it
generated 7.5 percent of the energy needs of the base, and |ast
year it generated al nost 26 percent of the power for the base.
He said his folks have done an incredible job publicizing all

that they are doing and keeping the |lines of conmunication open,

and the U S. Air Force said the 673rd has the nunber 1 website
in the Air Force, and its Facebook pages are in the top 2
percent. He said Eielson [Air Force Base] is adjacent to “our
ranges,” and it is a premer exercise and training venue in the
Paci fic and throughout the entire DOD. One of the areas that may
not be as appreciated is the First Ar Support operations group,

he said, and it is assigned to the 354th at Eielson, but it is
headquartered at Lewis MChord, at JBER, and in Hawaii. He
explained that “these are the joint termnal attack controller
airmen that go to war with the Army on a daily basis.” They
conducted the first-ever Australian mission training trip. He
noted that the 63-year-old conbined heat and power plant at
Eielson is nonitored very carefully, as losing heat is a
“significant enotional event in the wintertine.” It is a coal

pl ant, and boilers one through four have exceeded environnenta

standards, but boilers five and six need to be replaced, and
there is funding in place, he noted.

ASC COW TTEE - 8- February 17, 2015



2:43:11 PM

COCHAIR COGHI LL said it is not just a power plant; it keeps the
whole place warm It was so inportant to DOD that, under
sequestration, it noved ahead with the upgrade.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY suggested visiting the old boilers and
view ng the inpressive nodifications.

LI EUTENANT CGENERAL HANDY said there was a cost decision
regarding privatized housing to bury [water] pipes wthout
protection, “and that’s sort of comng back to haunt us.” But
they received alnpost $7 mnmllion for the first phase of a
holistic repair. The hospital at Eielson is quite inpressive for
treating patients and saving energy and noney at the same tine,
he said. There are a few initiatives in Interior [Alaska]. The
good news is that the U S. Ar Force announced that Eielson is
the preferred alternative for the first overseas base for F-35.
He said there is work in that direction, so he is optimstic.

2:46: 03 PM

SENATOR Bl SHOP asked if he saw a sinmulator for F-35s at Eiel son
in the President’s budget.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said he believes so, but wuntil the
envi ronnmental inpact study is done, he can't say for sure.

SENATOR BI SHOP asked about coordinating “Septenber wth the
range control for our Al askan nobose hunters.”

2:47: 26 PM
LI EUTENANT CGENERAL HANDY said he hears him and there is an

ongoing analysis for aggressors, and “we lost a third of our
aggressor capability, and so the Air Force is at a bit of a

strategic crossroads.” They are l|looking at different ideas to
get to an executable plan, including other platfornms, reserve
conponent  associ ati ons, and even contract aggressors. He

anticipates hearing an update very soon, hopefully in March.
Finally, the Arny is bringing a Gay Eagle conpany, which is a
remotely powered vehicle, nuch like the [MJ)1] Predator, wth
tremendous and exciting opportunities for Al aska. Not just for
readi ness for conbat, but it is a powerful weapon system and can
be used for disaster response.

ASC COW TTEE -9- February 17, 2015



2:49:21 PM
REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked about the F-35 tineline.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said the record of decision on the
environnmental inpact statenment is planned for the summer of
2016, “to keep us on track for a first aircraft in 2019.”

CO CHAI R REI NBOLD announced that Bill Popp in on tel econference.
2:50: 02 PM

CO CHAIR COGHI LL said Mayor [Luke] Hopkins [Fairbanks North Star
Borough] is in the audience, and he put together a “tiger team”
whi ch has been a good listening session and a good “discussion
point.” Additionally, Fairbanks Mayor John Eberhart is here.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said there is a trenmendous partnership
with comunities and the [arnmed services], and Mayor Hopkins is
wel | -known and wel | -respected, as is Mayor Eberhard.

2:50: 57 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY showed a slide of the |ocations of Arny
forces in Alaska. He said the Arny will nake the decisions it’s
going to make, but his job is to ensure that the decisions are
made with full know edge of what U S. Arnmy Al aska brings, not
just to Alaska, but to national capabilities. “They really are
the Arctic experts in the Arny,” he said. The forces are
depl oyed all over the globe, he noted, but they cone honme and
use that tinme to get back into their Arctic skills. They
col | aborate with Nepal, Mongolia, Finland, Norway, and Icel and,
and he said he is very proud of them

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY showed dates of comunity 1listening
sessions [for Arny structure changes]. His next slide was on the
m ssil e defense system and he said that the partnership between
the Mssile Defense Agency, Space and Mssile Defense, and the
Al aska National Guard has never been stronger. The |ong-range

di scrimnati on RADAR (LRDR) basing decision is still not nade
he stated, and “they” are looking at a couple of sites and
conparing the costs and benefits. “I think they're interested in

nmoving forward while the interest in funding that is high,” he
of fered. There is $138 mllion earmarked for the program so it
is nmoving forward and the question is: “Were?” The conbined
heat and power plant plan at the Clear Air Force Station is on
track, and the plant will be decomm ssioned on Cctober 2015. In

ASC COW TTEE -10- February 17, 2015



Fort Geely, the funding is conplete for 14 operationally
configured silos, and the upgrade for the Exoatnospheric Kill
Vehicles, a mssile that hits another mssile, is underway and
funded, he stated. Turning to conbat training and readi ness, he
said Al aska hosted three big Red Flag exercises |ast year, which
involved international allies and partners at varying |evels of
sophistication. In 2015 [there will be] tw big Red Flags, and
“we’re the only two major blue air, so the friendly side” of the
partici pants were Japan and the Republic of Korea forces, which
is significant when one understands the history between those
two nations. Northern Edge is biennial and was cancelled in
2013, but it is on track [for 2015] and the only renai ning high-
end exercise that only includes the US. The intent is to |ook
at all the exquisite capabilities that our forces have, and it
will occur in the Gulf of Al aska and overland in the JPARC. He
said, “Everyone wants to play, because it’s been so long since
we’ ve done one.”

2:57:28 PM
CO- CHAI R COGHI LL asked about Coast Guard invol venent.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY answered that there is training with
the Coast CGuard in smaller scale events, because it is so busy.
It is looking at Northern Edge, but it is difficult for the
Coast QGuard to commit. The Navy will play a bigger role in the
event, he said.

2:58:27 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY turned to the Alaska Command (ALCOM

which is focused on Al aska and the Arctic. He said Al aska Shield
was an incredible success last year and a culmnation of 18
months of planning to ook at a disaster on the scale of the
1964 Good Friday Al aska Earthquake. It is the Federal Energency
Managenment Agency’'s (FEMA) bi-annual capstone event, and there
were nine nmjor exercises assessing how to inprove Alaska's
energency response capability, including local, state, and
tribal plans, as well as interagency coordination. The results
i ncluded validation of codified responses and nmany that were in
devel opnment. In looking at how to make things better, many
amazing things cane out of the exercise. He noted that Al aska
has no adjacent state to provide aid, “so, Conm ssioner Hume

[ Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans’ Affairs] and | spent an
awful lot of time tal king about how to have no airspace between
the active duty Title 10 forces and the Al aska National Guard on
how to respond to an incident in this state—and as you know,

ASC COW TTEE -11- February 17, 2015



that’s not necessarily easy.” There are nmany legal and policy
i ssues, and one way to deal with that was to exercise the "dua

status command authority.” Therefore, he said, there was a 1-
star Alaska Guard in command of both Title 10 mlitary forces
and Title 32 forces within the guard. There is a special,
i ntense course, and there are only “one or two of them qualified
within the state to do that, but we stand that conmand up and,
then, as the sub-unified commander, the overall Joint Force
commander , I push commander forces, so tactical command
authority with both of those legal hats to that commander, and
that commander takes command of them and pushes them as
required, to where they need to go,” he explained. He said that
approach elimnates “conversations and red tape,” and at the
tactical level, it puts the commander in charge of forces, which
is where the commander needs to be. To be prepared, he and
Conmi ssioner Hummel’'s predecessor signed a standard operating
procedure, which covers first indications of a disaster

training and qualifications [of dual conmand authorities],
getting [the appropriate person] appointed by the Governor, and
how to execute throughout the exercise. He noted the *Al aska
Pl aybook,” and said it is a step up in conmand and coordi nation
from the SOP [standard operating procedure], and the previous
governor and previous comrander signed the “playbook,” and it is

a docunment that is still being devel oped. The playbook is |like a
two-mnute drill in a football gane; it is what is needed right
when a di saster happens, “because if you start tal king about it
when it happens ...you're late to need.” The playbook clarifies

[forces] to be requested and what is already available. He said
the playbook is a fantastic tool for a disaster, and he wl
discuss it wth the Governor [Walker] tonorrow. The group
figured out how to open danmged ports, such as using a ship
of fshore, which involves boats, pipes, and ranps. The group al so
exercised, for the first time, a conplete aeronedical patient
evacuation, and he gave the exanple of evacuating the injured
from Val dez, getting themto a port such as JBER, and processing
themat a large facility that was set up from scratch. They al so
tested the entire critical incident search and rescue response
plan. He said the exercise involved about 250,000 people
t hroughout the state, and “1 think it was a great confidence
buil der that we’'re all ready to work together.”

3:06: 01 PM

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked if the infrastructure wll| be
mai ntained so it wll be ready to go for a live event.

ASC COW TTEE -12- February 17, 2015



LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said joint |ogistics over the shore,
for exanple, are positioned where they can get here in a hurry,
but nost of the infrastructure is not sitting here. A big
challenge is the need to control the flow of aid, because so
many people want to help, and the first things that get naxed
out are the runway and ranp capacities. The npst valuable
enduring factors are the docunents, arrangenents, playbook, and
menor anda of understanding between agencies so that no one is
argui ng when the incident happens. As a DOD officer, he has |ess
i nvol venent than state agencies, but “we’re the folks that are .
there with the big heavy capacity to help, but we can't help
until we’'re asked and we’'re not asked until all those agencies
get together and agree on what they want to ask for.”

3:08:17 PM

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said, in answer to Representative Tarr,
the Anchorage area is unique, because everything that nay be
needed is on JBER including mlitary, National Guard, Coast
Guard, and the state enmergency operations center.

3:09: 23 PM

LI EUTENANT CGENERAL HANDY said he has briefed the comittee on
Colony dacier, where a C 124 aircraft crashed in 1952 and was
not recovered at the tinme. A few years ago, fragnents starting
comng out of the glacier. A few weeks a year, teans recover
itens from the weckage, and |ast year, seven sets of remains
were repatriated to famlies. Operation Nanook is a big Canadi an
search and rescue exercise, and last year it used a scenario
wWth a cruise ship in the Arctic. He said his group participated
at a small scale, and he hopes to get nore engaged wi th Canada
and its Arctic experts. He spoke of the Arctic Collaborative
Environnment (ACE), a tool where state officials can use a
desktop and get a coherent picture of everything that is going
on in the Arctic. He said it is another step toward “all-domain
awareness.” He said he appointed a new position of an
i nteragency coordinator. He said the Arctic Speaker Series has
been a success, bringing in Arctic stakeholders fromall over to
share what they are doing and to how to operate in the region.
The vice-president for external affairs for BP tal ked about its
operations, for exanple. He then showed a slide, “Qher
Initiatives,” which provides perspective on the nultiple
prograns that relate to the Arctic. The mlitary is trying to
stay in front of that issue, he stated.

3:14: 06 PM

ASC COW TTEE -13- February 17, 2015



LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said the budget is better than |ast
year, “because we did achieve sone stability in the FY2015
budget, and we were able to neet, at least mninmally, nost of
our mssion requirements for readiness and capability.” Al of
the national security services could probably use nore noney,
but they need predictability. He said the bad news is that the
Budget Control Act of 2011 reenerges in 2016.

3:15:15 PM

COCHAIR REINBOLD asked what the legislature can do |[to
i nfl uence Congress].

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY said the Al aska delegation does not
want sequestration, so they would be the ones to ask. From a
mlitary perspective, he said he wants everyone to understand
that there will be significant inplications, because “nobst of
what we're looking at for 2016 assunmes that we are not in
sequestration.” He said the l|legislature could stress how big of
an i npact sequestration woul d have.

3:17:46 PM

CO- CHAIR REI NBOLD recogni zed Deputy Conmm ssioner Bob Doehl and
Al aska National Arny Brigadi er General Bridges.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY continued to review the DOD budget. He
said there is $29 nmllion for the [long-range discrimnation
RADAR], $11.5 million for the Cear power plant fuel system and
$1.98 million for transient barracks in Barrow for the Al aska
Arny National CGuard and others, in recognition of the [nelting]
Arctic. He thanked the commttee and the Al aska conmuniti es.

3:20:15 PM

COCHAIR COGHI LL said he appreciates the nmlitary's work. He
spoke of personal issues, like PTSD [post-traumatic stress
disorder] and famly problens, when mlitary personnel return
home, and he asked how the | egi slature can hel p.

LI EUTENANT CGENERAL HANDY said one of the best ways to take care
of these nmen and wonen is to ensure their fanmlies are cared for
while they are deployed, including quality public schoo

education for the children and hel ping teachers understand the
needs of mlitary Kkids.

ASC COW TTEE -14- February 17, 2015



CO CHAIR COGHI LL said a young 4-H student with a mlitary famly
visited him and said she is going to Hawaii but plans to return
to Al aska.

LI EUTENANT GENERAL HANDY noted that he recently attended one of
the tribal mlitary neetings, which brought 229 presidents and
first chiefs to come to Anchorage. This year it was coordi nated
with the Al aska Forum on the Environnent, and it was a
tremendous opportunity to talk about the ancestral |ands that
the mlitary operates on. He said he then chaired the Statenent
of Cooperation Executive Steering Goup, which was started by
CGeneral Case and is an opportunity to bring together everyone in
federal and state agencies that deal with the environnment. He
said it helps to get the mssion done while still being good
stewards of the environnent.

3:25:19 PM

RETIRED GENERAL CASE said the entire wuniversity system is
conpletely behind veterans and their famlies, and that support
IS grow ng.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR said the legislature has been working on
| egi slation that hel ps veterans who return to civilian life, and
she asked Lieutenant CGeneral Handy to keep in touch with ideas.

3:27:22 PM

CO CHAI R REINBOLD said Alaska is in great hands.

The commttee took an at-ease from3:28 p.m to 3:32 p.m
3:32:59 PM

CO CHAIR REINBOLD welconmed Comm ssioner Laurie Hummel and
hi ghli ghted sonme of her acconplishnents: US. Arny, retired
colonel; Senior Advisor of the National MIlitary Acadeny of
Af ghani stan, NATO training mssion; and directing the Operations
Intelligence and Chief Joint Intelligence Support Elenent,
Al aska Comand.

3:34: 23 PM
LAURI E HUMMEL, Conm ssioner, Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans
Affairs (DWA), recognized Lieutenant Tom Case for his service

and nentoring and Brigadier General Mke Bridges for his
| eadership and selfless dedication to the Al aska National Guard

ASC COW TTEE - 15- February 17, 2015



during a difficult time. She said this is her eighth day on the
job, and she has spent half of it with General Handy and | ooks
forward to forging a great relationship between the National
Guard and Alaska Comand. She showed a chart of DWA
organi zation, and she said the Al aska Aerospace Corporation gets
adm ni strative support from the DWA, and the U S. Property &
Fiscal Ofice is there to make sure that fiscal and property
processes are legal and ethical. Initially, she intends to |ead
the National Guard and align nore closely with the m ssions of
the Division of Honmeland Security and Emergency Managenent. She
said Deputy Conmm ssioner Bob Doehl wll head up the rest of the
depart ment.

COW SSI ONER HUMMEL noted that Al aska has a Dual M ssion Force,
with a state mssion under Title 32, and sonetines they are
called to federal status wunder Title 10. Mst of Alaska's
guardsman have been called to Title 10 mssions, “tinme and tine
and tinme again,” she said. The Ar Guard is led by Brigadier
General Tim O Brien, and the inbound Air Guard commander w Il be
Col onel Karen Mansfield. She said the state has two w ngs. The
168th air refueling wing at Eielson runs the KC 135 tanker fleet
and the Space Warning and Surveillance Squadron at the Clear Ar
Station. Additionally, the nbst conplex wing in the Air Nationa

Guard is the 176th Wng, which is at JBER It has a broad suite
of responsibilities: conbat search and rescue, tactical and
strategic airlift, air control, and rescue coordination. The Ar
GQuard is continuously involved in overseas deploynent, she said.
It runs the regional air operation center (RAOC), which is the
24-hour mssion to ensure air sovereignty, and the State
Emergency Response Asset Is managed through the rescue
coordination center. The Air Guard will grow in the next few
years by about 250 personnel, she reported.

COM SSI ONER HUMMEL said the three mmjor units of the Al aska
Arny  National Guard are Joint Forces Headquarters, t he
Battlefield Surveillance Brigade (which will be elimnated), and
the 38th Troop Conmmand. She said the good news is that “we wll
stand up new units in the Army Guard at regional support group
and infantry battalion.” Having a regional support group is a
good fit as a brigade replacenent, because its focus is defense
support to civil authorities, she explained. “There is a need to
exercise this mssion set in Korea, which we hope to be able to
take opportunity to do that, and it also focusses on force
protection logistics and all the mssion-essential tasks that
are, by necessity, exercised during defense support to civil
authorities’ types of situations.” She said the Infantry
Battalion that wll be “stood up” works well for recruiting,

ASC COW TTEE -16- February 17, 2015



especially in rural Alaska, but it does not have a diversity of
occupational specialties and does not allow the force to recruit
many wonen, because wonen are not found below the battalion
staff level. She said she is entertaining the idea of asking for
el ements of an engineer battalion, because they do construction
m ssions, both wvertical and horizontal, which is a good
capability. The occupational specialties <can be recruited
t hroughout the state, and there is an opportunity for wonen and
men. Regarding the operational relevance of the Guard, she said
she will focus on the way forward, and she suggested “i ncreasing
our strategic alignment within the Pacific Command area of
responsibility and strengthening our partnerships.” There needs
to be regionally aligned federal force partnerships, she
expl ai ned, and that will ensure the guard s rel evance. Rel evance
in the eyes of the federal force, the National Guard Bureau, is
what pronotes funding and force structure. She noted that the
guard has a successful state partnership program with ©Mngolia,
and she said she is considering adding Nepal as another state
partnership program That will not only increase relevance in
the AOR [area of responsibility], but it will expand training in
col d weat her and high altitude environnents.

3:46: 31 PM

COWMWM SSI ONER HUMMEL stated that the DWA's Division of Honmel and
Security & Enmergency Managenent (HSEM) is captained by John
Madden, and its mission is to protect people and property from
all possible hazards. She proposed to inprove the coordination
bet ween the Guard forces and HSEM with regard to defense support
to civil authorities. She said that DWA needs to work nore
closely wwth cities and boroughs on response and support, and it
has built partnerships in Bethel, Val dez, Kenai, and Barrow over
the last couple of years by hosting exercises in those areas.
Comm ssi oner  Hunmel noted that the guard has not been

continuously focused on defense support to civil authorities
over the past 14 years, so she sees that as a focus area. She
said she wants to ensure, in future exercises, that all the

phases from kick-off to the finish include the guard. Usually,
she said, the guard conmes in during the mddle to mtigate a
hazard. The initial response is the period where a request is
received and assessed by the State Enmergency Qperations Center,
and at the end of an exercise, the departnment anal yzes the cost,
efficiency, and effectiveness. She opined that the DWA has
exercised the mddle piece well, but she said it needs to choose
the best defense force and follow up by accounting for the
| essons that were | earned for future operations.

ASC COW TTEE -17- February 17, 2015



COMWM SSI ONER HUMMEL said the Alaska MIlitary Youth Acadeny is
partnered with the National Guard, and it is consistently in the
top five Challenge prograns in the country. A study found that
every dollar invested in these prograns vyields considerable
savings in societal costs, she stated. Turning to the Ofice of
Veterans Affairs, she said the office it is strategically
| ocated because the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation is
upstairs. It is also on a bus route, which showed her how
custoner-oriented the director is. She said she hopes to
increase rural outreach by bringing division representatives to
rural exerci se m ssions, inmproving public relations, and
connecting better to veteran service organizations, including
national offices. She noted that many female veterans do not
think of thenselves as veterans and of having access to those
servi ces.

3:53:42 PM

COW SSIONER  HUMVEL  turned to the Ofice of Conpl ex
| nvestigations (OCl) and its tineline for i nvestigating
potential msconduct and nmalfeasance with the Alaska guard.

There has been a lot of self-assessnent, she said, before,

during, and after the OCl report. She spoke of a bi-weekly
“conmmanders update briefing” to address “the areas of concern
that were an outconme from the OC.” She guaranteed that
| eadership will take the OCl report and Judge Collins’ special

i nvestigation and use them “in every possible manner to increase
the capacity of the National Guard and to build and/or rebuild
an effective command climate.” She said there is a new special

victim counsel on staff, |oaned from the National Guard Bureau

and she deals exclusively wth sexual assault victins. She said
she is also focused on getting the state code of mlitary
justice into statute and hiring someone to coordinate that
effort with the legislature. Lastly, she said she has identified
the need for additional |egal assistance within the guard. The
Judge Advocate General officers and attorneys are overworked in
a stressful environment. She said she has requested help from
the National Guard Bureau with tenporary help or preference at
paral egal schools to fill enpty slots. The bureau is very
receptive, she added. There were five areas noted in the QOC
report that were turned over to internal teanms, and the sixth
issue was a finding of fraud and was addressed in an externa

federal audit, and although all of the results are not in, no
illegal activity was found, but there were admnistrative
m stakes in accounting. She said the DWA wll be at the
i stening sessions nmentioned by Lieutenant General Handy.

ASC COW TTEE - 18- February 17, 2015



4:00: 04 PM

CO CHAIR COGH LL thanked the speakers. He said he went to a
listening session a long time ago and it was “a very lofty
conversation.” He said it is a nomnation process, and he hopes
“that we're still nom nating people from Al aska.” He added that
he appreciates the focus on readi ness for Al aska.

COCHAIR REINBOLD said there are flyers on the downsizing
events. The main focus is for the nenbers, |eaders, and partners
to have direct input regarding the Arny before the decisions are
made. She announced the time and |ocations of the sessions. She
stressed that downing-sizing would be devastating for Fairbanks
or Anchorage. She requested Myor Luke Hopkins speak to the
comittee about the Tiger Team

4:06: 45 PM

LUKE HOPKINS, WMayor, Fairbanks North Star Borough, said that
after [the terrorist attacks of Septenber 11, 2001], another
mayor began nmonthly civilian/mlitary neetings to discuss how to
work together. Wien there was a “BRAC [base realignnent and
closure] issue” in 2005 with Eielson Air Force Base, there was a
simlar effort, he said. He spoke of filling the Carlson Center
“Wth red shirts,” and there was a team that met regularly on
that issue. Wen the downsizing issues canme around, which
i ncluded noving F-16s, “we created a Tiger Teant to include
menbers of Congress, the assenbly, and non-elected officials to
neet every week. The assenbly provided funds for studies and
consultants, he added. He said there was a party when “the
announcenent canme for the F-35s,” but there is work to be done
so the Tiger Teamw |l continue neeting. The State of Al aska and
the borough are nenbers of the “Association of Defense
Communities,” and that is like a Tiger Team but at a different
| evel, he explained, and Alaska is in conpetition with other
states for forces and expenditures. Senator John MCain has a
ot of strength, he noted. He said, “So, that’s how the Tiger
Team works; we're continually bringing up issues of how to
respond to the needs that we think our community should have and
serve the mlitary.” Wth regard to the expansion of JPARC, it
is “a big bite” for Alaska, but it is inportant to have the
record of decision nmade. He recalled when a stealth bonber cane
to Eielson Air Force Base during one of the Red Flags, and it
was hot-fueling; “they had the sinulation of being able to go
undetected just as if they were over the Mediterranean and the
eneny was trying to identify that aircraft comng in. That’s how
bi g JPARC airspace is,” he stated.

ASC COW TTEE -19- February 17, 2015



4:15:02 PM

CO CHAIR COGHI LL recalled that the Tiger Team prepared comments
for the environnmental inpact statenent for JPARC, and it all owed
community nmenbers and | ocal aviation nenbers to help. He said it
al so all owed the community to understand the mlitary better.

MAYOR HOPKINS added that the legislature is involved in the
Tiger Team The group does other things and is working on a
joint land wuse study. He spoke of a partnership between
communities and individual bases, including small businesses.
There are nine subgroups that neet regularly, including one on
sexual harassnent, which includes the University of Alaska. He

said, “W’'re lowering the cost of energy,” and that affects
mlitary famlies. He spoke of unmanned aircraft and ties to the
University of Alaska. Industry is allowed to work with the

mlitary in its restricted airspace, which is a big deal, he
noted. He said he wants to give people on the base a quality of
life by way of public transportation. The team works together to
sol ve problens that Al aska faces, he summari zed.

4:22:15 PM

CO CHAIR REINBOLD noted that CSHIR 13(MV) passed the Al aska
House. She then highlighted the inportance of preventing
downsi zi ng because of [Alaska s] strategic |ocation, deploynent
platforns, railroad connectivity, and good training areas. She
gquoted Arnmy Mjor General WIlliam Mtchell, father of the Ar
Force, who said: "I believe that in the future, whoever holds
Al aska will hold the world."

4:24:51 PM
ADJ OURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the Joint
Armed Services Conmittee neeting was adjourned at 4:25 p. m

ASC COW TTEE - 20- February 17, 2015



